RECEIVED 07-25-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2012AP2067

MADISON TEACHERS, INC., PEGGY COYNE, PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 62, AFL-CIO, AND JOHN WEIGMAN,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

V

SCOTT WALKER, JAMES R. SCOTT, JUDITH NEUMANN, AND RODNEY G. PASCH,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JUAN B. COLAS, PRESIDING, CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 2011-CV-003774, AND ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS (DISTRICT IV)

CORRECTED BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Courts have uniformly held that public employees do not have a constitutionally protected right to collectively bargain, and that such statutory rights, when

granted, are a matter of legislative grace. Through 2011 Wisconsin Act 10 the Wisconsin Legislature modified the various statutory rights granted to Wisconsin's municipal employees. Specifically:

- Wis. Stat. § 111.70(4)(mb)1., limits collective bargaining between general municipal employees and employers to the single issue of base wages;
- Wis. Stat. §§ 111.70(4)(mb)2., 66.0506 and 118.245, require that collectively bargained for base wage increases that exceed an increase in the Consumer Price Index be approved by referendum;
- Wis. Stat. §§ 111.70(1)(f) and 111.70(2)(in relevant part), eliminate the ability of general municipal employee unions to negotiate "fair share" agreements, which require non-union members to pay the proportional share of the cost of collective bargaining and contract administration;
- Wis. Stat. § 111.70(4)(d)3.b., requires that entities that wish to be the certified bargaining agent of a collective bargaining unit containing general municipal employees demonstrate on an annual basis that a majority of bargaining unit members want such collective representation and pay the cost of administering the related certification elections; and
- Wis. Stat. § 111.70(3g), prohibits municipal employers from deducting union dues from general municipal employee earnings.

Do these modifications of the collective bargaining system infringe the rights of association and speech of general municipal employees and their unions?

The Circuit Court answered: Yes.

The Court of Appeals did not answer but instead certified the appeal to this Court.

2. Do the statutes listed above violate the equal protection rights of those general municipal employees represented by a collective bargaining agent vis-a-vis those general municipal employees who are not?

The Circuit Court answered: Yes.

The Court of Appeals did not answer but instead certified the appeal to this Court.

3. Does Wis. Stat. § 62.623, prohibiting the City of Milwaukee from paying contributions to the Milwaukee Employee Retirement System for its general employees, violate the Home Rule Amendment, art. XI, § 3(1) of the Wisconsin Constitution?

The Circuit Court answered: Yes.

The Court of Appeals did not answer but instead certified the appeal to this Court.

4. Does Wis. Stat. § 62.623, prohibiting the City of Milwaukee from paying contributions to the Milwaukee Employee Retirement System for its general employees, unconstitutionally impair the contractual rights of these employees?

The Circuit Court answered: Yes.

The Court of Appeals did not answer but instead certified the appeal to this Court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are warranted because of the public importance and statewide impact of the laws at issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case focuses on whether certain features of the Municipal Employment Relations Act, Wis. Stat. §§ 111.70 – 111.77, as amended by 2011 Wisconsin Acts 10 and 32 and other related statutes (hereafter "MERA"), violate the state constitutional rights of association, free speech, and equal protection of general municipal employees and their unions, and whether the Legislature

exceeded its authority by requiring that City of Milwaukee employees pay the employee share of pension contributions.

The relevant facts are undisputed. Plaintiffs-Respondents are Madison Teachers, Inc., a union representing Madison public school teachers, Local 62 AFL-CIO, a union representing certain City of Milwaukee employees, and individual members of each union (hereafter, "the challengers"). (R. 3, ¶¶ 9-14.) Defendants-Appellants (hereafter "the state officials") are the Governor of Wisconsin and the Commissioners of the Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission, whose duties involve the implementation of certain parts of Act 10. (R. 3, ¶¶ 15-17.)

On November 29, 2011, the challengers filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 18), seeking a declaration that certain sections of MERA, as outlined in the Statement of Issues, violated their rights of association, free speech, and equal protection under the Wisconsin Constitution. They also challenged Wis. Stat. § 62.623, which prohibits a 1st class city from paying the

employee share of required pension contributions. Finally, they challenged Act 10 as being improperly considered during a special legislative session.

The state officials filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings on January 31, 2012. (R. 38.) On September 14, 2012, the Circuit Court decided both dispositive motions and issued its Decision and Order on Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendants' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (R. 53; App. 124-50.) It held that municipal employees' and their unions' rights of association and free speech under both the state and federal¹ constitutions were violated by MERA's ban on collective bargaining for issues other than base wages, the annual certification requirements, and the prohibitions on forced payment of "fair-share" contributions from non-member employees, and payroll deductions for union dues. (R. 53; App. 134-39.) Based on those conclusions, the Circuit Court then analyzed the

.

¹ Despite the challengers not claiming any violation of the federal constitution, the Circuit Court declared certain provisions of MERA unconstitutional under both the state *and* federal constitutions.

challenged sections under strict scrutiny and held that they violated equal protection. (R. 53; App. 139-42.)

With respect to the 1st class city pension provisions, the Circuit Court concluded that "the allocation of responsibility for contributions to the Milwaukee ERS ... is a 'local affair' for purposes of the Home Rule Amendment" to the Wisconsin Constitution and that the adoption of a statutory provision "that alters it is an unconstitutional intrusion into a matter reserved to the City of Milwaukee." (R. 53; App. 145.) Finally, the Circuit Court also concluded that the prohibition on paying the employee share of pension contributions was an unconstitutional impairment of contracts. (R. 53; App. 149.)

Accordingly, the Circuit Court declared "Wis. Stat. §§ 66.0506, 118.245, 111.70(1)(f), 111.70(3g), 111.70(4)(mb) and 111.70(4)(d)3 violate the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions, and Wis. Stat. § 62.623

violates the Wisconsin Constitution, and [are] all null and void." (R. 53; App. 150.)²

On September 18, 2012, the state officials filed a notice of appeal. (R. 54.) On October 10, 2012, in response to a motion by the challengers, the Circuit Court's "Amendment Clarifying September 14, 2012 Decision and Order," amended the Order "to add the third sentence of § 111.70(2) to the statutes found unconstitutional and therefore void." (R. 65; App.153.) That sentence states: "A general municipal employee has the right to refrain from paying dues while remaining a member of a collective bargaining unit."³

On April 25, 2013, the Court of Appeals certified the case to this Court. (Certification; App. 100-23.) On June 14, 2013, this Court granted the certification.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the constitutionality of state statutes de novo, without deference to the lower courts.

² All relevant statutory sections are included in the appendix.

³ Proceedings related to the state officials' efforts to obtain a stay and an April 22, 2013, petition for supplemental injunctive relief filed by the challengers are not addressed in the Statement of the Case as they are not relevant to this appeal.

State v. McManus, 152 Wis.2d 113, 129, 447 N.W.2d 654 (1989).

ARGUMENT

To the challengers, every debate over Act 10 is an endless policy debate. Their tactics shift and the forums change but the goal is the same: to prevent reform. Opponents of Act 10 have fought the changes to public sector collective bargaining through persuasion, protest, public information campaigns, teacher "sick-outs," recall threats, and public "shaming." Legislative opponents even fled the State to try and block a quorum of the Senate. When those efforts failed, and Act 10 became law, opponents challenged the measure in court, again and again.

But courts are not public policy salons. They decide cases on the law. So when opponents of Act 10 challenged the legislative procedure by which the law was enacted, they lost. *State ex rel. Ozanne v. Fitzgerald*, 2011 WI 43, 334 Wis.2d 70, 798 N.W.2d 436. When they brought a constitutional challenge in federal court, they

lost. Wis. Educ. Ass'n Council v. Walker, 705 F.3d 640, 642 (7th Cir. 2013).

And they should lose here. This case merely repackages arguments already rejected by the Seventh Circuit and is nothing more than the latest effort to impose a public policy result that could not be achieved through the democratic process. These claims simply have no basis in law.

I. THE ACT 10 CHANGES TO MERA DO NOT INFRINGE RIGHTS OF ASSOCIATION OR SPEECH.

The challengers characterize their associational and speech claim under the Wisconsin Constitution as an infringement on their right to "associate for the purpose of participating in collective bargaining." (R. 44:24.) They frame their argument in this manner because the right to associate is protected only if it is for the purpose of "engaging in those activities protected by the First Amendment – speech, assembly, petition for the redress of grievances, and the exercise of religion." *Roberts v. United States Jaycees*, 468 U.S. 609, 618 (1984).

However, their argument fails because pronouncements of this Court and the United States Supreme Court⁴ make it abundantly clear that collective bargaining in the public employee context is not a constitutional right. See, e.g., Dep't of Admin. v. Wis. Emp. Rel. Comm'n, 90 Wis.2d 426, 430, 280 N.W.2d 150 (1979)("There is no constitutional right of state employees to bargain Smith v. collectively"); Arkansas State Highway Employees, Local 1315, 441 U.S. 463, 465 (1979)("the First Amendment does not impose any affirmative obligation on the government to listen, to respond or ... to recognize [a public employee] association and bargain with it").

Instead, it is a policy choice made by the Legislature to share decision-making authority with employee representatives. How much decision-making authority to share (if any), and with whom, are legislative choices. This is what the Court of Appeals meant when it

⁴ The rights of free speech and assembly and the guarantee of equal protection of the Wisconsin and U.S. Constitutions are coextensive. *County of Kenosha v. C & S Management Inc.*, 223 Wis.2d 373, 389, 588 N.W.2d 236 (1999); *State v. McManus*, 152 Wis.2d 113, 130, 447 N.W.2d 654 (1989).

stated, "The right of state employees to bargain collectively with the state is an act of legislative grace." *Bd. of Regents v. Wis. Per. Comm'n*, 103 Wis.2d 545, 556, 309 N.W.2d 366 (Ct. App. 1981).

Act 10 merely changed the scope of decision-making authority the State chooses to share through collective bargaining. These policy choices in Act 10 are undoubtedly significant, but they are not of a constitutional moment. Indeed, it is undisputed that the State could end *all* collective bargaining for public employees. The Court of Appeals recognized this power in its certification. (Certification, p. 9; App. 108)("[T]he parties agree that ... the legislature could have abolished all collective bargaining.") Since the challengers concede this point, it is peculiar, therefore, that they continue to try and cloak their policy views with constitutional dress.

The Wisconsin and federal constitutions clearly recognize the challengers' right to associate to exercise their right to petition government. However, neither grants the right to associate for the purpose of collective

bargaining. Such right is merely statutory,⁵ and the Legislature may grant and withdraw that right as it sees fit.

In *Smith*, the United States Supreme Court rejected allegations that the Arkansas State Highway Commission improperly refused to consider employee grievances filed by union representatives, noting the critical distinction between the employees' First Amendment rights and the public employer's freedom to ignore the employees' selected representative:

The public employee surely can associate and speak freely and petition openly, and he is protected by the First Amendment from retaliation from doing so. But the First Amendment does not impose any affirmative obligation on the government to listen, to respond or, in this context, to recognize the association and bargain with it.

441 U.S. at 465 (emphasis added)(citation omitted).

The Seventh Circuit understood this distinction when, in *Wis. Educ. Ass'n Council*, 705 F.3d at 642, it soundly rejected constitutional challenges to post-Act 10 MERA, and its state government counterpart, the State

⁵ Wisconsin Stat. § 111.70(2) reads, in part: "Municipal employees have the right ... to bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing, and to engage in lawful, concerted activities **for the purpose of collective bargaining**."

Employment Labor Relations Act, Wis. Stat. §§ 111.81 – 111.94, as amended ("SELRA"). The Seventh Circuit reviewed the same issues presented in this case and held that nothing in Act 10⁶ violates the First Amendment and that "Act 10 places no limitations on the speech of general employee unions, which may continue speaking on any topic or subject." *Id.* at 645-46. As a result, the Seventh Circuit upheld Act 10 "in its entirety." *Id.* at 642.

The challengers' claims ignore this settled law. Instead, they confuse the right to associate for constitutional purposes with a right to associate to engage in pre-Act 10 collective bargaining, which was always, and only, a statutory process. The right of association only protects those who "associate for the purpose of engaging in those activities protected by the First Amendment – speech, assembly, petition for the redress of grievances, and the exercise of religion." *Jaycees*, 468 U.S. at 618. Were the law otherwise, it would

_

⁶ Act 10 amended both MERA and SELRA. This Court has held that the identical rights in these laws merit the same legal analysis. *Dep't of Emp. Rel. v. Wis. Emp. Rel. Comm'n*, 122 Wis.2d 132, 143, 361 N.W.2d 660 (1985).

constitutionalize all activities that any group of people wants to engage in simply because they have associated for that purpose.

Nor does it matter that a labor union might engage in protected First Amendment activities in addition to collective bargaining. For example, individuals may associate to form a corporation and government cannot interfere with that corporation's legitimate First Amendment activity. See Citizens United v. Federal Elections Comm'n, 558 U.S. 310, 340-41 (2010). This, however, does not preclude laws that might make associating as a corporation less attractive. For instance, a state might decide to modify or end the limitations on corporate liability, one of the primary motivations for forming a corporation. The First Amendment and art. I, §§ 3, 4 of the Wisconsin Constitution are not guarantees of particular collective bargaining rights and processes any more than they are a permanent guarantor of limited corporate liability as presently defined under Wisconsin law.

The MERA provisions at issue do not implicate constitutionally-protected association or speech activities; instead, they are merely legislative determinations of how decision-making should be shared between municipal employers and their employees. And, notably, neither Act 10 nor MERA place any limits on any conduct outside the narrow sphere of collective bargaining. In fact, the manner in which the labor unions, their members, and other aligned interests have associated, engaged in speech, and petitioned the government on the specific issue of Act 10, clearly shows how their rights continue to exist and be exercised.

Because no associational or speech rights are implicated by Act 10, this Court should review the challenged MERA statutes under the deferential rational basis standard. *Wis. Educ. Ass'n Council*, 705 F.3d at 652-53 (applying rational basis review because plaintiffs failed to articulate a cognizable First Amendment claim). MERA easily survives under this analysis, and the challengers agree. (R. 44:25 n.8; App. 115.)

II. WISCONSIN CONST. ART. I, §§ 3, 4, DO NOT REQUIRE DUES DEDUCTIONS OR MANDATORY "FAIR-SHARE" CONTRIBUTIONS.

A. No State Constitutional Right Exists For Employees And Labor Unions To Access Payroll Systems For The Purpose Of Dues Collection.

Public sector unions have no constitutional right to access government payroll systems for dues deductions. In fact, the United States Supreme Court recently concluded that a state's decision to end payroll deductions as a dues-paying mechanism "is not an abridgment of the unions' speech" because they remain "free to engage in such speech as they see fit." *Ysursa v. Pocatello Educ. Ass'n*, 555 U.S. 353, 359-60 (2009).

Relying on *Ysursa* and *Regan v. Taxation with Representation*, 461 U.S. 540 (1983), the Seventh Circuit, in *Wis. Educ. Ass'n Council*, explained:

The Bill of Rights enshrines negative liberties. It directs what government may not do to its citizens, rather than what it must do for them. *See Smith v. City of Chi.*, 457 F.3d 643, 655–56 (7th Cir. 2006). While the First Amendment prohibits "plac[ing] obstacles in the path" of speech, *Regan*, 461 U.S. at 549, 103 S.Ct. 1997 (citation omitted), nothing requires government to "assist others in funding the expression of particular ideas, including political

ones," Ysursa, 555 U.S. at 358, 129 S.Ct. 1093; see also Harris v. McRae, 448 U.S. 297, 318, 100 S.Ct. 2671, 65 L.Ed.2d 784 (1980) (noting that Constitution "does not confer an entitlement to such funds as may be necessary to realize all the advantages of" a constitutional right). Thus, even though "publicly administered payroll deductions for political purposes can enhance the unions' exercise of First Amendment rights, [states are] under no obligation to aid the unions in their political activities." Ysursa, 555 U.S. at 359, 129 S.Ct. 1093.

In Ysursa, the Supreme Court squarely held that the use of a state payroll system to collect union dues from public sector employees is a state subsidy of speech. Id. As the Court explained, "the State's decision not to [allow payroll deduction of union dues] is not an abridgment of the unions' speech; they are free to engage in such speech as they see fit." Id. Other circuits have reached the same conclusion. Like the statutes in these cases, Act 10 places no limitations on the speech of general employee unions, which may continue speaking on any topic or subject. Thus, Ysursa controls, and we analyze Act 10 under the Supreme Court's speech subsidy cases.

750 F.3d at 645-46 (emphasis added)(citations omitted).

In Wis. Educ. Ass'n Council, it was claimed that the State's decision to allow dues deductions for only some groups burdened the rights of others. However, the Seventh Circuit rejected the argument for two reasons. First, "Act 10 does not present a situation where the state itself actively erected an obstacle to speech. Thus, nothing supports treating the selective prohibition of payroll deductions as a burden on or obstacle to the speech of

general employee unions. Instead, Act 10 simply subsidizes the speech of one group, while refraining from doing so for another." *Id.* at 646 (footnote omitted). Second, "speaker-based distinctions are permissible when the state subsidizes speech. Nothing in the Constitution requires the government to subsidize all speech equally." *Id.* at 646-47. The Seventh Circuit's holding could not be clearer: "Act 10's payroll deduction prohibitions do not violate the First Amendment." *Id.* at 645.

The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals even more recently upheld a prohibition on payroll deductions for certain public sector unions, even when allowed for others. In *Bailey v. Callaghan*, 715 F.3d 956 (6th Cir. 2013), the Sixth Circuit vacated an injunction prohibiting Michigan state officials from enforcing a statute that prohibited union dues deductions. It held:

The theory behind their First Amendment claim runs as follows: unions engage in speech (among many other activities); they need membership dues to engage in speech; if the public schools do not collect the unions' membership dues for them, the unions will have a hard time collecting the dues themselves; and thus Public Act 53 violates the unions' right to free speech.

The problem with this theory is that the Supreme Court has already rejected it. "The First

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