RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **08-15-2013** IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2012AP2067

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

MADISON TEACHERS, INC. PEGGY COYNE, PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 62, AFL-CIO, AND JOHN WEIGMAN,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

SCOTT WALKER, JAMES R. SCOTT, JUDITH NEUMANN AND RODNEY G. PASCH,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JUAN B. COLAS, PRESIDING, CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 2011-CV-003774, AND ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS (DISTRICT IV)

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS

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

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Response to State's Introductory Statements

It is disturbing that in a case about the freedom of association the Attorney General begins his argument by disparaging Wisconsin citizens for participating in constitutionally protected expressive activities and showing annoyance at their request that the courts determine the constitutional validity of Act 10. He complains that "the challengers" have engaged in "endless policy debate" about Act 10; that their goal is to "prevent reform"; that they have "fought the changes to public sector collective bargaining through persuasion, protest, [and] public information campaigns" and that they have "challenged the measure in court, again and again."²

By framing this case as nothing more than a "policy debate," the Attorney General shows disdain for the judges who, in this and other challenges to Act 10, have identified significant constitutional infirmities. Here and in an unrelated federal lawsuit challenging Act 10, the Circuit

² The Plaintiffs brought only this case. Apparently, the State is aggrieved by the fact that other citizens and orgnizations sought relief in other venues.

Court and District Court ruled *in favor of the challengers*.³ The State "prolonged" the litigation by filing post-judgment motions and appeals "again and again."

Although the District Court's ruling was reversed on appeal, that decision was two-to-one. *See Wis. Educ. Ass'n Council v. Walker*, 705 F.3d 640 (7th Cir. 2013) (Hamilton, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). Thus, of the five judges who have heard constitutional challenges to Act 10, three have found it constitutionally defective and two have found it constitutionally sound.

Those outcomes show that this case presents close constitutional questions that need careful consideration. As the Court of Appeals said in its Certification, this appeal "requires more than the application of settled law to a new set of facts. . . . [L]aw development and the clarification of supreme court decisions are necessary to resolve the parties' disputes with respect to constitutional associational rights and Wisconsin's Home Rule Amendment."

_

³ See Wis. Educ. Ass'n Council v. Walker, 705 F.3d 640 (7th Cir.), reversing Wis. Educ. Ass'n Council v. Walker, 824 F.Supp.2d 856 (W.D. Wis. 2013).

B. Introduction of the Merits

Act 10 unconstitutionally burdens the Plaintiffs' associational rights and violates their rights to equal protection under the law. The Circuit Court summarized the cumulative burdens that Act 10 imposes on the rights of employees who choose to associate for the purpose of collective bargaining:

Although the statutes do not prohibit speech or associational activities, the statutes do impose burdens on employees' exercise of those rights when they do so for the purpose of recognition of their association as an exclusive bargaining agent....[T]he state has imposed significant and burdensome restrictions on employees who choose to associate in a labor organization. The statutes limit what local governments may offer employees who are represented by a union, solely because of that association. It has prohibited general municipal employees from paying union dues by payroll deductions, solely because the dues go to a labor organizationEmployees may associate for the purpose of being the exclusive agent in collective bargaining only if they give up the right to negotiate and receive wage increases greater than the cost of living. Conversely, employees who do not associate for collective bargaining are rewarded by being permitted to negotiate for and receive wage increases without limitation. The prohibition on fair share agreements means that employees in a bargaining unit who join the union that bargains collectively for them are required to bear the full costs of collective bargaining for the entire bargaining unit, including employees in the unit who do not belong to the union but receive the benefits of the bargaining. Unions are required to be recertified annually, even if there has been no request for recertification and the full costs of the election are borne by the employees in the bargaining unit who are members of the union. Statutes that burden the exercise of a constitutional right for a lawful purpose and reward the abandonment of that right infringe upon the right just as did the prohibition in Lawson against members of certain associations residing in public housing.

Decision and Order on Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendants' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings ("Decision and Order"), pp. 15-16; APP00138-139.

The State mischaracterizes Act 10's cumulative burdens as "policy choices" regarding "how much decision-making authority to share" with public employee representatives. State's Brief, pp. 11-12. These laws are not policies which bolster management prerogatives. Act 10 does not expand municipal employers' authority to manage labor relations at all; rather, it restricts it. Moreover, Act 10 operates to legislate public employee unions out of existence by so burdening and penalizing employees who exercise their associational rights to collectively select a representative to engage in statutory collective bargaining that the employees and unions themselves will eventually surrender the exercise of their associational rights rather than suffer the burdens placed upon them.

Act 10 requires general municipal employees who want the option of negotiating anything beyond capped wages to surrender their association with a certified bargaining agent. It also causes unions and their members who, along with all bargaining unit members, choose the statutory privilege of collective bargaining by associating with a certified agent, to suffer financial and organizational penalties for making that choice, thus making their association difficult to maintain. Under the

doctrine of unconstitutional conditions, described and explained in Section II below, the Circuit Court correctly found that those provisions of Act 10 violate Plaintiffs' rights of association guaranteed by the Wisconsin Constitution. Decision and Order, p. 16; APP00139.

The Circuit Court also found that Act 10 creates two similarly situated but unequally treated classes of employees: general municipal employees represented by a certified agent, and general municipal employees who are non-represented. Decision and Order, pp. 17-18; APP00140-141. Because the differential treatment is based on fundamental associational choices, and given the State's failure to offer a defense of Act 10 that would survive strict scrutiny, the Circuit Court concluded that Act 10 violates Plaintiffs' constitutional rights to equal protection.

Decision and Order, p. 8; APP00141. Plaintiffs demonstrate in Section III that this was the right conclusion.

Sections IV and V explain why Act 10 also violates Wis. Const. Art. XI, §3(1), Wisconsin's Home Rule Amendment, and constitutes an unconstitutional impairment of contract by requiring Milwaukee's employees to contribute the "employee share" of payments into the Milwaukee Employee Retirement System.

II. ACT 10 VIOLATES THE ASSOCIATIONAL RIGHTS OF PLAINTIFFS.

A. Plaintiffs Have a Constitutional Right to Associate With a Certified Agent; They Do Not Assert a Constitutional Right to Collective Bargaining.

The State argues that the challenged provisions do not infringe on Plaintiffs' constitutionally protected right to freedom of association because "collective bargaining in the public employee context is not a constitutional right." State's Brief, p. 11. It then reasons that because collective bargaining "is a policy choice made by the Legislature to share decision-making authority with employee representatives," id., the State may disregard public employees' associational interests when they participate in this statutory process. The State's logic is flawed.

First, Plaintiffs do not contend that municipal employees have a constitutional right to force their employers to negotiate collectively with them. Rather, they claim a constitutional right to self-organization and to associate with a union, including for collective bargaining purposes.

"[T]he right of employees to self-organization and to select representatives of their own choosing for collective bargaining or other mutual protection without restraint or coercion by their employer....is a fundamental right."

N.L.R.B. v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S. 1, 33 (1937); see also Railroad Trainmen v. Virginia, 377 U.S. 1, 5-6 (1964). "Such collective action would

be a mockery if representation were made futile by interferences with freedom of choice." Texas & N.O.R. Co. v. Brotherhood of Ry. & S.S. Clerks, 281 U.S. 548, 570 (1930). See also Thomas v. Collins, 323 U.S. 516 (1945).

While a governmental employer is free to refuse to negotiate with a public employee union (absent a statutory guarantee), the government violates employees' fundamental rights of association when it "tak[es] steps to prohibit or discourage union membership or association." Smith v. Arkansas State Highway Emp., Local 1315, 441 U.S. 463, 466 (1979) (emphasis added). The State may statutorily restrict the obligation to collectively bargain in good faith, but it may not constitutionally withhold benefits or penalize public employees for exercising their *associational* rights to organize or select a representative. See Smith, 441 U.S. at 465. Thus, governmental acts such as retaliation, discrimination, suppression or censorship restricting municipal employees' ability to associate for their common interests and to petition and advocate their positions have been found to violate the fundamental right to associate. See Brown v. Alexander, 718 F.2d 1417, 1429 (6th Cir. 1983), reh'g en banc denied, citing Smith, 441 U.S. 463.

Article I, Sections 3 and 4 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect citizens' associational rights at least to the same extent as the First

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution does. Lawson v. Housing Authority of City of Milwaukee, 270 Wis. 269, 274, 70 N.W.2d 605 (1955); see also State v. Bagley, 164 Wis.2d 255, 474 N.W.2d 761 (Ct. App. 1991). Indeed, the Wisconsin Constitution may provide even stronger associational protections than the U.S. Constitution if "the Constitution of Wisconsin and the laws of this state require that greater protection of citizens' liberties ought to be afforded." State v. Jennings, 2002 WI 44, ¶38, 252 Wis.2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142, quoting State v. Doe, 78 Wis.2d 161, 171-72, 254 N.W.2d 210 (1977).

This Court, in construing the Wisconsin Constitution, has held that "[n]ecessarily included within such constitutionally guaranteed incidents of liberty is the right to exercise the same in union with others through membership in organizations seeking political or economic change."

Lawson, 270 Wis. at 274, citing American Steel Foundries v. Tri-City Council, 257 U.S. 184, 209 (1921) (discussing freedom of association as exercised by membership in union).

Plaintiffs exercise constitutionally protected rights of association when they choose to collectively bargain, when they choose a union to represent them (or are chosen) as a bargaining agent, and when they choose to associate as members of that union. As shown in the following

sections, it is those constitutionally protected choices upon which Act 10 unconstitutionally infringes.

B. The Bargaining Limitations of Act 10 Unconstitutionally Burden Plaintiffs' Associational Rights.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has explained that:

The holding out of a privilege to citizens by an agency of government upon condition of non-membership in certain organizations is a more subtle way of encroaching upon constitutionally protected liberties than a direct criminal statute, but it may be equally violative of the constitution.

Lawson v. Housing Authority, 270 Wis. 269, 275, 70 N.W.2d 605, cert. denied, 350 U.S. 882 (1955).

Act 10 penalizes municipal employees who choose to be represented by a certified agent by limiting what that agent may negotiate for them to a capped annual base wage increase, unless a higher wage increase is approved by referendum, while imposing no restrictions on the terms that non-represented employees may negotiate with their employers.⁴ Wis. Stat. §§111.70(4)(mb), 66.0506 and 118.245. Because these provisions require employees who want the possibility of negotiating anything beyond wages that are severely capped or subject to increase only at the

16

⁴ As shown in Section III, Act 10's bargaining limitations also violate equal protection principles.

caprice of the electorate to surrender their association with a certified agent, they unconstitutionally burden the employees' associational rights.

The State dismisses the authority of *Lawson* as merely a "1950's Red Scare era" case, implying that it should be ignored. State's Brief, p. 23. Yet *Lawson* is part of a larger body of law applying the doctrine of unconstitutional conditions, which was recognized well before the "Red Scare era" and continues to this day. Under this doctrine, "the government may not place a condition on the receipt of a benefit or subsidy that infringes upon the recipient's constitutionally protected rights, even if the government has no obligation to offer the benefit in the first instance." *Alliance for Open Soc'y Int'l, Inc. v. U.S. Agency for Int'l Dev.*, 651 F.3d 218, 231 (2d Cir. 2011), *aff'd sub nom. Agency for Int'l Dev. v. Alliance for Open Soc'y Int'l, Inc.*, 133 S. Ct. 2321 (2013); *see also Rumsfeld v.*

In the language of the doctrine, the "benefit," as applied here, is the potential for an employee or group of employees to negotiate all issues with the employer, including all matters affecting wages, hours and working conditions. The "unconstitutional condition" is the requirement that to be able to access that benefit (albeit at the employer's discretion),

employees may not choose to have a sole and exclusive certified bargaining agent act on their behalf.

Indeed, in light of the State's contentions regarding state regulation of corporations and First Amendment activities, State's Brief, p. 15, it is ironic that early cases through which the doctrine of unconstitutional conditions developed involved unconstitutional limitations on corporate constitutional rights. In Western Union Tel. Co. v. Kansas, 216 U.S. 1 (1910), the Court recognized that a state could outright prohibit a corporation from operating within its borders, but could not grant the privilege to operate on a condition that amounted to a tax on out-of-state property without violating due process and imposing an unconstitutional restraint on interstate commerce. See also Quaker City Cab Co. v. Pennsylvania, 277 U.S. 389, 400-401 (1928) ("The right to withhold from a foreign corporation permission to do local business therein does not enable the state to require such a corporation to surrender the protection of the federal Constitution.").

By the 1960's, the recognition that government cannot condition privileges on the forfeiture of constitutional rights incorporated such diverse areas as unemployment compensation, *Sherbert v. Verner*, 374 U.S. 398, 404 (1963); welfare funds, *Parrish v. Civil Serv. Comm'n*, 66 Cal. 2d 260,

425 P.2d 223, 230 (1967); public housing, *Lawson, supra*; tax exemptions, *Speiser v. Randall*, 357 U.S. 513, 519-20 (1958); public education, *Dixon v. Alabama Bd. of Educ.*, 294 F.2d 150, 156 (5th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 368 U.S. 930 (1961) and use of the United States Postal Service, *Lamont v. Postmaster General*, 381 U.S. 301, 309-10 (1965). The doctrine was largely implicated in the context of First Amendment expressive and associational rights. The doctrine continues to have primary application in the First Amendment arena today, in the context of restrictions tied to federal funds. *See Agency for Int'l Dev. v. Alliance for Open Soc'y Int'l, Inc.*, 133 S. Ct. 2321, 2328-2330 (2013) and cases cited therein.

The State claims that the law underlying *Lawson* cannot apply in this case because *Lawson* is not a public employment case, and the government has more leeway to interfere with the constitutional rights of its employees than citizens at large. State's Brief, p. 24. Yet the doctrine of unconstitutional conditions has been applied in public employment cases. For instance, in *Wieman v. Updegraff*, 344 U.S. 183 (1952), an Oklahoma statute that required state employees take a loyalty oath of non-affiliation with certain organizations violated employees' constitutional rights to due process based on the following reasoning:

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